### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

O.P.H. OF LAS VEGAS, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

Supreme Court No. 76966
Electronically Filed
District Court No. 76966

District Court No. 76966

Electronically Filed
District Court No. 76966

APPELLANT'S OPENING

BRIEF

OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY; DAVE SANDIN; AND SANDIN & CO.,

Respondents.

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Gloria Sturman, Department XXVI, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-12-672158-B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

\*\*\*\*\*

\*\*\*\*\*

Michael N. Feder
Nevada Bar No. 7332
Gabriel A. Blumberg
Nevada Bar No. 12332
DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC
8363 West Sunset Road, Suite 200

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- (a) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(8).
- (b) The district court entered its order granting Sandin's Motion for Attorneys' Fees on March 16, 2018. OPH filed a motion to reconsider and/or amend the judgment on March 30, 2018, which was resolved by the district court's June 11, 2018 order denying reconsideration. OPH could not appeal this order, however, until all claims were resolved against all parties. This did not occur until September 11, 2018, when a stipulation of dismissal was filed as to the remaining claims against OMI. OPH filed its notice of appeal that same day. See NRAP 4, NRCP 54(b); Fernandez v. Infusaid Corp., 110 Nev. 187, 192, 871 P.2d 292, 295 (1994) ("In the absence of a proper certification of finality, an interlocutory order dismissing fewer than all the parties cannot be challenged on appeal until a final judgment is entered in the action fully and finally resolving all the claims against all the parties.").
  - (c) This appeal is from a final judgment.

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(8). Appellant believes this matter should be retained by the Supreme Court despite its presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals because it

involves an important matter of public policy. If the district court's opinion is affirmed, it will vitiate the policy behind offers of judgment and will unfairly force plaintiffs to forego legitimate claims due to fear of an unreasonable award of attorneys' fees to defendants based on an unreasonable offer of judgment. *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 588, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- (a) Whether the district court erred and misapplied Nevada's governing law relating to awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to an offer of judgment.
- (b) Whether the district court erred by awarding attorneys' fees as a penalty pursuant to an offer of judgment that was made for a nominal amount the day after the offeror lost on its motion to dismiss and where the offeree's decision to reject the offer of judgment was not grossly unreasonable and the offeree had brought its claims in good faith.
- (c) Whether the district court erred by awarding an unreasonable amount of attorneys' fees.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

OPH is a small business owner who operated a restaurant at 4833 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV. APP00431. Sandin & Co. is an insurance agency and Dave Sandin is an insurance broker. *Id.* The Sandin Defendants became OPH's insurance broker and began procuring commercial insurance

policies for OPH in 2002. *Id.* Following a recommendation by Dave Sandin, OMI and OPH entered into a "Businessowners Protector Policy" that became effective on December 26, 2011 (the "Policy"). *Id.* 

On August 17, 2012, during the effective period of the Policy, OPH's restaurant burned to the ground as a result of a fire. APP00433. OPH, devastated by the loss of its restaurant, notified its insurance agent, the Sandin Defendants, of the complete loss. *Id.* The Sandin Defendants reported OPH's claim to OMI, who summarily denied OPH's claim based on nonpayment of premium. *Id.* The Sandin Defendants never notified OPH that they had missed any premium payment due under the Policy. APP00432.

On November 19, 2012, OPH filed a complaint against the Sandin Defendants asserting claims for fraud in the inducement, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence.<sup>1</sup> APP00106.

On December 26, 2012, the Sandin Defendants filed a motion to dismiss seeking to dismiss all of the claims against them for failure to state a claim pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). APP00123. The district court orally denied the Sandin Defendants' motion to dismiss on February 13, 2013. APP00160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> OPH also named OMI as an additional defendant in the district court action and asserted various claims against OMI. OMI remained a party to the action until it was dismissed pursuant to stipulation on September 11, 2018. APP00873.

The *very next day*, on February 14, 2013, even though OPH was seeking hundreds of thousands of dollars in damages, the Sandin Defendants served an offer of judgment on OPH offering to settle all of OPH's claims for the sum of Two Thousand Dollars and No Cents (\$2,000.00) pursuant to NRCP 68 and/or NRS 17.115. APP00161. OPH rejected the offer of judgment.

More than two years later, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of the Sandin Defendants. APP00378; APP00430. On September 2, 2015, the Sandin Defendants brought a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs seeking to recover attorneys' fees as the prevailing party on their token \$2,000 offer of judgment. APP00484. The matter came before the district court for oral argument on November 17, 2015, at which time the district court orally granted the Sandin Defendants' Motion for Costs and took their Motion for Attorneys' Fees under advisement. APP00607.

In the meantime and following the notice of entry of judgment in favor of the Sandin Defendants, OPH appealed the district court's order granting the Sandin Defendants' motion for summary judgment. APP00450. On September 14, 2017, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the ruling of the district court as to the summary disposition of OPH's claims against the Sandin Defendants and a remittur was issued on October 9, 2017. O.P.H. of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Oregon

Mutual Ins. Co., 401 P.3d 218 (2017).<sup>2</sup>

Following the remand back to the district court, the district court held another hearing on the Sandin Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees on February 6, 2018. APP00749. At the February 6, 2018 hearing, the district court granted the Sandin Defendants' motion for attorneys' fees and awarded them attorneys' fees totaling \$127,242.00 and costs totaling \$7,546.55. APP00770.

OPH filed a motion for reconsideration, but the district court denied the motion. APP00782; APP00864. OPH then filed this appeal, challenging the district court's decision to award attorneys' fees to the Sandin Defendants based on a patently unreasonable offer of judgment. APP00869.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2002, the Sandin Defendants became OPH's insurance broker and began procuring commercial insurance policies for OPH. APP00431. Throughout the course of the relationship between the Sandin Defendants and OPH, Sandin & Co. informed OPH on three separate occasions that OPH was late on an insurance premium payment. APP00263; APP00334. Indeed, Dave Sandin admitted during this case that he made it his practice to inform clients of pre-cancellation notices

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the same opinion, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed the district court's order granting summary judgment in favor of OMI and remanded the matter back to the district court for further disposition. *O.P.H. of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co.*, 401 P.3d 218, 224 (Nev. 2017).

because that gave his clients an opportunity to avoid having their policy terminate for non-payment. APP00313- APP00314. OPH relied on the Sandin Defendants to be its "buffer" in the event of any problems with its insurance policies. APP00323.

In 2011, at a time when Dave Sandin did not have the statutorily required license to serve as an insurance broker, Dave Sandin recommended that OPH purchase insurance from OMI. APP00431. As a result of Dave Sandin's recommendation, OMI and OPH entered into the Policy that became effective on December 26, 2011. Id. The Policy covered two restaurant locations: 4833 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada (the "Premises") and 4170 South Fort Apache Road, Las Vegas, Nevada. APP00001. The Policy provided a \$691,000 limit of insurance for the replacement cost of buildings and a \$350,000 limit of insurance for the replacement cost of business personal property for each location. Id. The Policy also provided that OMI would reimburse OPH for loss of business income in the event of a covered loss. Id. Furthermore, the Policy provided that OMI could not cancel the Policy absent providing OPH notice of cancellation at least ten days before the effective date of cancellation, if the cancellation was premised upon nonpayment of premium. Id.

On July 31, 2012, OMI allegedly sent a statutorily defective Notice of Cancellation to OPH stating that the Policy would be cancelled effective August

16, 2012 if OPH did not make a premium payment by August 15, 2012 (the "July 31 Notice"). APP00183. OMI also claimed to have notified the Sandin Defendants of the July 31 Notice. APP00184. OPH never received the July 31 Notice and the Sandin Defendants failed to inform OPH of the July 31 Notice or the missed July premium. *Id*.

On August 17, 2012, a fire completely destroyed the Premises resulting in hundreds of thousands of dollars of damages (the "Loss"). APP00433. OPH, via Dave Sandin, reported the Loss and OMI generated a claim number for the Loss on August 17, 2012. *Id.* Three days later, however, OMI denied coverage, stating that the policy had been canceled effective August 16, 2012 for failure to pay the premium pursuant to the July 31 Notice. *Id.* 

On November 19, 2012, OPH filed a complaint against the Sandin Defendants asserting claims for fraud in the inducement, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence.<sup>3</sup> APP00105. On December 26, 2012, the Sandin Defendants filed a motion to dismiss seeking to dismiss all of the claims against them for failure to state a claim pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). APP000123. The district court orally denied the Sandin Defendants' motion to dismiss on February 13, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> OPH also named OMI as an additional defendant in the district court action and asserted various claims against OMI. OMI remained a party to the action until it was dismissed pursuant to stipulation on September 11, 2018. APP00873.

## APP00160.

The *very next day*, on February 14, 2013, the Sandin Defendants served a small, token offer of judgment on OPH offering to settle all of OPH's claims for the sum of Two Thousand Dollars and No Cents (\$2,000.00), inclusive of attorneys' fees, costs, and interest, pursuant to NRCP 68 and/or NRS 17.115. APP00161. OPH, who: (1) had just prevailed on the Sandin Defendants' motion to dismiss; (2) had already expended more than \$2,000 in attorneys' fees in the case; and (3) was seeking hundreds of thousands of dollars in damages, reasonably rejected the offer of judgment. APP00784.

A little more than two years later, on March 17, 2015, the Sandin Defendants filed their motion for summary judgment (the "MSJ"), seeking judgment in their favor on all of OPH's claims against them. APP00199. The district court orally granted the Sandin Defendants' MSJ at a hearing on May 14, 2015 and entered its written MSJ order on June 30, 2015. APP00378; APP00430. On August 13, 2015, judgment was entered in favor of the Sandin Defendants and against OPH on all of OPH's claims against the Sandin Defendants. APP00480.

On September 2, 2015, the Sandin Defendants brought a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs seeking to recover attorneys' fees as the prevailing party on their token \$2,000 offer of judgment. APP00484. The matter came before the district court for oral argument on November 17, 2015, at which time the district

court orally granted the Sandin Defendants' Motion for Costs and took their Motion for Attorneys' Fees under advisement. APP00607. The district court wanted to examine two issues: (1) whether the \$2,000 Offer of Judgment was reasonable in timing and amount and (2) whether it should reduce the Sandin Defendants' requested attorneys' fees during the period when the case was in court-annexed arbitration. APP00617- APP00618.

In the meantime and following the notice of entry of judgment in favor of the Sandin Defendants, OPH appealed the district court's order granting the Sandin Defendants' motion for summary judgment.<sup>4</sup> APP00450. On September 14, 2017, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the ruling of the district court as to the summary disposition of OPH's claims against the Sandin Defendants and a remittur was issued on October 9, 2017.<sup>5</sup> O.P.H. of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Oregon Mutual Ins. Co., 401 P.3d 218 (2017).

Following the remand back to the district court, the district court held another hearing on the Sandin Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> OPH also appealed the district court's order granting OMI's motion for summary judgment. APP00450.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the same opinion, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed the district court's order granting summary judgment in favor of OMI and remanded the matter back to the district court for further disposition. *O.P.H. of Las Vegas*, *Inc. v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co.*, 401 P.3d 218, 224 (Nev. 2017).

February 6, 2018. APP00749. At the February 6, 2018 hearing, the district court concluded that the miniscule, token \$2,000 Offer of Judgment was reasonable, but found it was unreasonable for the Sandin Defendants to incur \$35,000 in attorneys' fees during the arbitration stage. APP00763- APP00765. The district court also noted that the third *Beattie* factor requires "if your client decided to reject not in good faith, it had to be grossly unreasonable." APP00762. Immediately upon stating this standard, the district court concluded "I thought pretty much everybody was operating in good faith here. Nobody – it's just you guys didn't agree." *Id.* The district court then repeated its finding that "it wasn't unreasonable to proceed." APP00763. After issuing these findings, the district court granted the Sandin Defendants' motion for attorneys' fees and awarded them attorneys' fees totaling \$127,242.00 and costs totaling \$7,546.55. APP00770.

OPH filed a motion for reconsideration seeking to have the Court reverse its improper application of NRCP 68 as penalty provision, but the district court denied the motion. APP00782; APP00881. At the hearing on the motion for reconsideration, the district court supported its denial of the motion by seemingly backtracking from its prior findings and repeatedly stated "I never said that I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Sandin Defendants have not appealed the district court's decision regarding the reduction of their attorneys' fees during arbitration and thus that holding cannot be disturbed on appeal. *Ford v. Showboat Operating Co.*, 110 Nev. 752, 755, 877 P.2d 546, 548 (1994).

thought that that was - - that it was a reasonable decision to reject the offer." APP00874; APP00875 ("I never said that I thought it was reasonable to reject that offer. I never said that."); APP00876 ("So I never said it was good faith to not accept the award. I never said it . . . I never said it was good faith to reject the offer. So for that reason, that's why I did what I did.").

OPH then filed this appeal, challenging the district court's decision to award attorneys' fees to the Sandin Defendants based on a patently unreasonable offer of judgment. APP00885.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court committed multiple reversible errors by turning the Offer of Judgment into a penalty provision and awarding the Sandin Defendants attorneys' fees in contravention of Nevada's public policy. First, the district court abused its discretion by awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to *Beattie* after specifically identifying that OPH acted in good faith and it was not unreasonable for OPH to proceed with its case. Second, the district court made a clearly erroneous factual finding when it determined that the \$2,000 offer of judgment was reasonable, despite being issued the day after OPH prevailed on the Sandin Defendants' motion to dismiss in a case where "everybody realized that it was a big claim." Third, the district court disregarded controlling law by focusing on whether OPH's decision to reject the offer of judgment was reasonable, instead of

utilizing this Court's governing standard requiring the district court to analyze whether OPH's decision to reject the offer of judgment was grossly unreasonable.

Lastly, the district court erred by inadequately evaluating the Sandin Defendants' requested attorneys' fees pursuant to *Brunzell*. The Sandin Defendants' billing records include obvious and unsustainable overbilling that should have been reduced by the district court once it decided to award attorneys' fees pursuant to the offer of judgment.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

"An award of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *MB Am.*, *Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016) (citing *Albios v. Horizon Cmtys., Inc.*, 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022, 1027–28 (2006)). "An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." *Id.* (citing *NOLM*, *LLC v. Cty. of Clark*, 120 Nev. 736, 739, 100 P.3d 658, 660–61 (2004)).

# B. Legal Standard Governing Offers of Judgment

An offer of judgment made pursuant to NRCP 68 may be made at any time more than ten days prior to trial. NRCP 68(a). If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, "the offeree shall pay the offeror's post-

offer costs, applicable interest on the judgment from the time of the offer to the time of entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney's fees, if any be allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer." NRCP 68(f)(2). An offer is rejected if it is not accepted within ten days of the offer being made. NRCP 68(e).

In addition to the mandates of NRCP 68, this Court requires district courts to analyze the following factors when determining whether to award attorneys' fees pursuant to an offer of judgment:

- (1) whether OPH's claims were brought in good faith;
- (2) whether the Sandin Defendants' Offer of Judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its timing and amount;
- (3) whether OPH's decision to reject the offer was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and
- (4) whether the attorneys' fees sought by the Sandin Defendants are reasonable and justified in amount.

See Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89; 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983); see also Ozawa v. Vision Airlines, 216 P.3d 788, 792 (Nev. 2009). Where the first three factors weigh in favor of denying attorneys' fees, "the reasonableness of the fees requested by the offeror becomes irrelevant, and cannot, by itself, support a decision to award attorney fees to the offeror." Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 357 P.3d 365, 373 (Nev. Ct. App. 2015).

Here, the district court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by awarding attorneys' fees to the Sandin Defendants pursuant to an unreasonable, patently small offer of judgment made prior to discovery commencing that OPH reasonably rejected while in good faith pursuing its claims seeking hundreds of thousands of dollars in damages.

# 1. OPH Brought Its Claims in Good Faith

The first *Beattie* factor considers whether OPH brought its claims in good faith. *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. at 588-89. In evaluating this factor, it is important to note that "[c]laims may be unmeritorious and still be brought in good faith." *Max Baer Productions Ltd. v. Riverwood Partners, LLC*, 2012 WL 5944767, \*3 (D. Nev. Nov. 26, 2012). In fact, a party can pursue claims in good faith even if the plaintiff's belief that it will prevail on its claims turns out to be incorrect in hindsight. *Assurance Co. of America v. National Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 2012 WL 6626809, \*3 (D. Nev. Dec. 19, 2012).

Here, the district court concluded during the February 6, 2018 hearing that OPH was acting "in good faith." APP00762. The district court echoed this sentiment at the hearing on OPH's motion for reconsideration, whereat it affirmed OPH acted in "good faith to bring the case" and it "felt it was good faith to plead it." APP00875- APP00876. As a result, the first *Beattie* factor undoubtedly favored OPH and denying attorneys' fees to the Sandin Defendants.

# 2. The Offer of Judgment Was Unreasonable in Timing and Amount

The district court clearly erred in finding that the Sandin Defendants made a good faith offer of judgment and that the offer of judgment was reasonable in timing and amount. APP00763 ("it was certainly a reasonable offer"). The purpose of an offer of judgment "is to promote settlement of suits by rewarding defendants who make reasonable offers." See Muije v. A North Las Vegas Cab Co., Inc., 106 Nev. 664, 667, 799 P.2d 559, 561 (1990). It is not intended to be used "as a mechanism to unfairly force plaintiffs to forego legitimate claims," nor is it supposed to be used as a trap by defendants to force attorneys' fees upon plaintiffs who seek to pursue colorable claims in good faith. Drake, 357 P.3d at 373.

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