IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

| O.P.H. OF LAS VEGAS, INC., |) Supreme Court No. 76966 |
|----------------------------|--|
| Appellant, |) District Case No. Act provices Provided Apr 24 2019 09:39 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court |
| v. |) |
| |) |
| OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE |) |
| COMPANY; DAVE SANDIN; AND |) |
| SANDIN & CO., |) |
| |) |
| Respondents. |) |
| |) |

DAVE SANDIN AND SANDIN & CO.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

Michael K. Wall (2098) Patricia Lee (8287) Peccole Professional Park 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Attorneys for Respondents

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

In *LaForge*, the appellant argued that his rejection of respondents' offer of judgment was reasonable because respondents had not previously disclosed to him

that they would raise an issue preclusion defense.²² Appellant further argued that respondents' failure to give notice of the issue preclusion defense prior to making the offer made their offer unreasonable in its timing. *Id.* This Court rejected that argument, stating, "[w]here the district court properly considers these *Beattie* factors, the award of attorney's fees is discretionary." *Id.* This Court held that respondents' failure to bring the issue preclusion defense earlier did not constitute withholding of information that rendered appellant's rejection of the offer of judgment reasonable. Not only had respondents not actually withheld information from appellant–appellant's failure to anticipate respondents' defense did not amount to a withholding of information, *id.* at 424—the information was equally available to appellant. The award of attorney's fees was not an abuse of discretion.

Just as the appellant in *LaForge* had a duty to evaluate his own case before pursuing it and before rejecting an offer of judgment, OPH had a duty to properly evaluate its case before rejecting Sandin's offer. In point of fact, OPH knew or

²²In this case, OPH knew precisely what Sandin's defenses were; Sandin had presented them in a motion to dismiss. Feeling its oats because it had defeated a motion to dismiss was no basis for OPH to reject the offer of judgment. Its lawyer had to have recognized the strength of Sandin's arguments, and the weakness of their claims, but they were willing to pursue the matter to coerce a bigger settlement nonetheless. This is precisely the conduct NRCP 68 is intended to punish. OPH proceeded at its own risk, eyes open.

should have known its claims were frivolous when they were filed. They were unsupported by any law and based on facts OPH knew were untrue. If OPH did not do sufficient diligence to discover the frivolous nature of its claims, the fault is with OPH. More importantly, if OPH pursued its action hoping to coerce a settlement, the action is inexcusable.

The offer of judgment for \$2,000 was also reasonable in amount. Sandin felt confident it would successfully defend against OPH's frivolous claims, whether on summary judgment or at trial. The district court ultimately granted summary judgment on all of OPH's claims, and this Court affirmed, proving Sandin right. OPH, on the other hand, elected to pursue the action and did so expensively, at its own, voluntarily assumed risk.

At the time of the offer of judgment, the case was part of the mandatory arbitration program.²³ In the mandatory arbitration program, damages are limited to \$50,000. NAR 16(B). Given the \$50,000 cap on damages, the \$2,000 offer of

²³Six months after the offer of judgment, OPH filed a tardy request for exemption from arbitration. The Commissioner granted the request on September 17, 2013. But by that time, the parties had engaged in motion practice and discovery far more expensive than an arbitration case would normally have warranted. The district court did not award Sandin attorney's fees for this period of time and Sandin has not appealed. But the decision not to appeal is not a concession that the district court was right. Sanding believes the district court erred. It is merely a business decision not to pursue this issue on appeal.

judgment was reasonable.

The amount was also reasonable in amount in terms of potential exposure.

Oregon Mutual was the primary defendant. Sandin was a scapegoat defendant.

Sandin correctly believed that the liability, if any, would rest with Oregon Mutual.

OPH elected to pursue questionable claims against Sandin, and assumed the risk of failure. Therefore, the \$2,000 offer of judgment was reasonable in amount.

Below and on appeal OPH points to the amount Sandin spent on the defense of this action as evidence that an offer of \$2,000 was unreasonable. The suggestion that because OPH forced defendant to spend a lot of money to defend against its frivolous claims, the amount of defendant's offer of judgment was inadequate is a non-sequitur. It belies OPH's motive in filing the complaint in the first place: to compel a settlement based on nuisance value.

A person who is sued has two option: defend or pay. When a person is sued in a frivolous manner, the options do not change. There is no basis in law, fact, reason, logic or equity for OPH's suggestion that because it is going to be expensive to defend against a frivolous lawsuit, a defendant has some kind of duty to offer judgment in an amount tied to or dependent on the cost of defense.

Indeed, the opposite is true. One purpose of the offer of judgment rule, NRCP 68, is to allow a person who has been frivolously sued an avenue of redress for costs

and attorney's fees unjustly imposed on him or her by making an offer of judgment.

At the time OPH filed its suit, it knew the action was a shakedown with a real value of zero dollars. It does not make OPH's refusal of Sandin's early offer good faith because Sandin did not tender an amount that approximated OPH's perceived nuisance value of the shakedown. Nor is the amount of OPH's loss relevant to whether the offer was made in good faith, or refused in good faith. No matter how badly I am injured in an accident, if I knowingly sue a person with no liability, I cannot argue when an offer is made that the amount of the offer is too small because my injuries are great. A frivolous lawsuit does not become less frivolous because the person bringing it has suffered a loss, or because the person defending it will expend funds.

(3) OPH's Decision to Reject the Offer and Proceed to Discovery and Toward Trial Was Grossly Unreasonable.

OPH's decision to reject the offer was unreasonable. OPH's claims were brought in bad faith and were not grounded in the law. There was no legal basis for OPH's claims against Sandin. This Court agreed.

OPH nonetheless continues to hang its hat on the fact that discovery had not

yet commenced when Sandin's offer of judgment was made.²⁴ OPH argues that any offer of judgment made prior to discovery is per se unreasonable. OPH fails to acknowledge three material and undisputed facts which were known to OPH before it filed this lawsuit: (1) as stated in paragraph 27 of OPH's complaint, "Defendant OREGON MUTUAL did not send a cancellation notice to Defendant Dave Sandin;" (2) as stated in paragraph 28 of the complaint, "DAVE SANDIN did not receive a cancellation notice;" and (3) as OPH admitted, on August 13, 2012, prior to the cancellation, OPH realized that it had not made the monthly premium and made a conscious decision not to correct its own error.

OPH knew its policy was in jeopardy of being cancelled before the policy was canceled. OPH did not need to rely on Sandin to notify it of the pending policy cancellation or to remind it to make a payment. Plaintiff also knew that Oregon Mutual did not supply Sandin with the notice of termination. Plaintiff's knowledge of this fact is the law of this case, as found by this Court. Knowing all of these facts, OPH's rejection of an offer, any offer, to settle against a defendant

²⁴In rejecting this argument, the district court stated: "Their motion to dismiss was very thorough on why this case was just never going to reach the affirmative standard necessary to show that a duty had been assumed. That was on the record from the beginning. They put you on notice after they were not successful in having the case dismissed that they felt confident in their position." APP 874.

it knew it had sued in bad faith was not justified.²⁵

OPH continues to assert that because it beat a motion to dismiss, its' claims were not without merit when pleaded. Although the district court did deny Sandin's motion to dismiss, the district court was careful to note that Nevada has a low pleading standard. APP 160. Later, the district court explained that OPH had been afforded an opportunity to attempt to prove its claims, but had completely failed. APP 655-56.

OPH has cited no case law to support the proposition, under the minimal pleading standards of Nevada, that a case's survival of a motion to dismiss is evidence the claim was brought in good faith. Survival at that stage simply suggests that counsel pleaded enough facts to satisfy the elements of the claim. That a clever pleading of claims may allow a party to defeat a motion to dismiss, where all assertions of fact must be deemed true, does not make the pleading less frivolous.

²⁵OPH asserted below in opposition to the motion for attorney's fees that these facts "came to light almost six months after Defendants made their offer of judgment to OPH." This assertion was disingenuous, at best. Perhaps what OPH meant to write was that six months after Sandin made their offer of judgment, these facts were revealed by OPH to Sandin for the first time. This should not be conflated with what OPH knew at the time the offer of judgment was made. None of these facts "came to light" for OPH. This information was always within the exclusive knowledge of OPH.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that OPH did not know its pleading was frivolous when it was filed, after discovery proved the factual allegations to be false, OPH's continued adherence to those facts is evidence of bad faith. To reassert as true those same facts after a district court and an appellate court have both determined that there is no evidence to support the facts is inexcusable. It is noteworthy that OPH has not asserted that at the time the complaint was filed it believed in its claims, acknowledging that it was unable to prove them. No. OPH has asserted those same factual claims in this appeal as though they were true. Years after this frivolous litigation was commenced in the desperate hopes of finding someone to pay for its own, knowing failure to pay a premium, OPH is still pursuing this action against an innocent defendant, forcing it to respond and defend, and to incur additional attorney's fees and costs.

Therefore, OPH's decision to reject the offer and proceed through years of arduous, contentious and multi-jurisdictional discovery was grossly unreasonable.

(4) The Fees Sought by Sandin Are Reasonable and Justified in Amount.

The penalty for rejecting an offer and failing to secure a more favorable outcome is that the rejecting party pays costs and attorney's fees from the date of the offer forward. Sandin provided the district court with itemized statements to

document its attorney's fees, both in district court and on appeal, and the district court found the charges to be reasonable. APP 526-84; 667-77. Indeed, the charges are well below prevailing market rates.

In district court, the primary attorneys on the case billed their time at deeply discounted rates. Patricia Lee billed her time at a rate of \$160 per hour and the associates (Michael Kelley and Katy Branson) billed their time at a rate of \$140. These discounted rates are far below the market rate for the Las Vegas area. Indeed, their standard billing rates at that time were \$360 and \$295, respectively. These hourly rates were more than reasonable based on the experience of counsel, the quality of representation, and the results achieved. *See* Declaration of Patricia Lee, APP 502-03.

Further, the fees and costs were reasonable given the circumstances of the case. OPH commenced this litigation on November 11, 2012. Discovery did not close until March 6, 2015, almost two-and-a-half years later. The motions for summary judgment were not filed until March 17, 2015. The delay in the case was entirely attributable to OPH and its multiple discovery abuses, as detailed in Sandin's motion papers below. *See* APP 494. In addition to those procedural hurdles, sixteen unnecessary depositions were taken, eleven of which were taken

outside of Las Vegas and out of state.²⁶ The fees sought by Sandin were reasonable and justified in amount because of the length of the litigation, the complexity of the claims, and the travel required for litigation that spanned over two-and-a-half years. *Id*.

On the first appeal, Sandin was primarily represented by seasoned appellate attorney and partner Michael K. Wall, and Patricia Lee, also a partner. APP 646, Lee decl at ¶ 18. Mr. Wall conducted all levels of research and drafting in support of opposing OPH's appellate efforts. *Id.* at ¶ 19. Ms. Lee continued to engage in active mediation and settlement efforts and further managed the majority of communications with the clients and opposing counsel. Id at \P 20. Counsel for Sandin spent time reviewing and responding to various communications with the Nevada Supreme Court, coordinating logistics for mandatory mediation, preparing mediation briefs, participating in multiple mediations and settlement negotiations, communicating extensively and routinely with all counsel and their clients, reviewing the district court record, preparing the answering brief, and monitoring the appeal. APP 646, Lee decl. at ¶¶ 19-21. This was a complex appeal involving defendants with differing defenses and issues to consider. Incidentally, Sandin

²⁶Some of these depositions may have been necessary to OPH's claims against Oregon Mutual, but as to Sandin, they were all unnecessary, although Sandin was compelled to participate.

has again had to perform all of these functions in this pending appeal.

The hourly rates of Sandin's counsel are reasonable. Seasoned appellate attorney Michael K. Wall billed his time at a rate of \$160.00 per hour, as did the other partner, Patricia Lee. These attorneys' standard billable rates at that time were \$475.00 and \$360.00, respectively. APP 646, Lee decl. at ¶¶ 22, 23.

Nevada courts have found much higher attorney hourly rates to constitute "prevailing market rates." See, e.g., Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada, 123 Nev. 598, 606, 172 P.3d 131, 137 (2007) (finding that the trial court "properly determined . . . that the \$250 per hour fee claimed by respondents' counsel was reasonable."); Tallman v. CPS Sec. (USA), Inc., 23 F. Supp. 3d 1249, 1259 (D. Nev. 2014) (awarding a labor and employment attorney with over 20 years of experience \$400 an hour, and a labor and employment attorney with four years of experience \$240 an hour); CLM Partners LLC v. Fiesta Palms, LLC, No. 2:11-CV-01387-PMP, 2013 WL 6388760, at *5 (D. Nev. Dec. 5, 2013) (surveying rate determinations among cases in the District of Nevada and finding "hourly rates as much as \$450 for a partner and \$250 for an experienced associate to be the prevailing market rate"); Easley v. U.S. Home Corp., No. 2:11-CV-00357-ECR, 2012 WL 3245526, at *3 (D. Nev. Aug. 7, 2012) (objections overruled, No. 2:11-CV-00357-MMD, 2013 WL 1145138 (D. Nev. Mar. 18, 2013) (finding \$340)

an hour to be reasonable in the Las Vegas legal market for someone with ten years of experience in the areas of labor and employment law)).

Based on the experience of counsel, the quality of representation, and the results achieved, the hourly rates of counsel staffing the appellate phase of this matter were below industry standards and reasonable.

(5) The District Court Properly Considered and Applied the Brunzell Factors.

The fourth *Beattie* factor (whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount) implicates *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969). *Brunzell* mandates that the trial court consider:

- (1) the character and difficulty of the work performed;
- (2) the work actually performed by the attorney;
- (3) the qualities of the advocate; and
- (4) the result obtained.

See Brunzell, 85 Nev. at 350, 455 P.2d at 33.

In this appeal, under *Brunzell*, OPH has challenged only the sufficiency of Sandin's billing records, *i.e.*, the work actually performed. The specific challenges OPH now brings, however, were not raised in district court. In district

court, OPH argued generally that there was over billing, but OPH did not provide any examples. The particular matters OPH now claims on appeal were over billed were not pointed out to the district court in its motion papers below. APP 591-92; 616.²⁷ Raising these specific arguments now for the first time on appeal is improper. *See Diamond Enterprises, Inc. v. Lau*, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997) ("It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court.").

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